UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

		FORM 10-Q		
☑ QUARTERLY I 1934	REPORT PUI	RSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF TH	IE SECURITIES EXCHANGE A	CT OF
		For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2018 OR		
☐ TRANSITION I	REPORT PUI	RSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF TH	IE SECURITIES EXCHANGE A	CT OF
		For the transition period fromto		
		Commission File Number 000-26041		
		F5 NETWORKS, IN (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charte		
,	WASHINGTON		91-1714307	
*	e or other jurisdiction poration or organiza		(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)	
		401 Elliott Avenue West Seattle, Washington 98119 (Address of principal executive offices and zip code)		
		(206) 272-5555 (Registrant's telephone number, including area code)		
preceding 12 months (or for suc) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or hat the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2		
	o Rule 405 of Re	s submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Webgulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the precedingles). Yes 🗹 No 🗆		
Indicate by check mark whether growth company. See the defini of the Exchange Act. (Check or	itions of "large ac	a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-acceler celerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting con	ated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an inpany," and "emerging growth company" in	n emerging Rule 12b-2
Large accelerated filer	☑		Accelerated filer	
Non-accelerated filer		(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)	Smaller reporting company	
			Emerging growth company	
		ck mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended bursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. \Box	d transition period for complying with any no	ew or
Indicate by check mark whether	r the registrant is a	a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange	e Act). Yes □ No ☑	
The number of shares outstandi	ng of the registrar	nt's common stock as of July 27, 2018 was 60,818,323.		

QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q

For the Quarter Ended June 30, 2018

Table of Contents

	rage
PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
<u>Item 1. Financial Statements (unaudited)</u>	3
Consolidated Balance Sheets — June 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017	3
Consolidated Income Statements — Three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017	4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income — Three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017	5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Nine months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017	6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	7
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	19
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	25
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	26
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION	
<u>Item 1. Legal Proceedings</u>	26
<u>Item 1A. Risk Factors</u>	26
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	29
<u>Item 6. Exhibits</u>	30
<u>SIGNATURES</u>	31

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

F5 NETWORKS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(unaudited, in thousands)

	June 30, 2018	S	eptember 30, 2017
ASSETS			
Current assets			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 599,268	\$	673,228
Short-term investments	485,232		343,700
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of \$2,136 and \$1,815	297,375		291,924
Inventories	31,322		29,834
Other current assets	 55,853		67,538
Total current assets	1,469,050		1,406,224
Property and equipment, net	 126,108		122,420
Long-term investments	329,412		284,802
Deferred tax assets	35,153		53,303
Goodwill	555,965		555,965
Other assets, net	45,378		53,775
Total assets	\$ 2,561,066	\$	2,476,489
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY		-	
Current liabilities			
Accounts payable	\$ 44,647	\$	50,760
Accrued liabilities	163,246		187,379
Deferred revenue	736,032		696,404
Total current liabilities	943,925		934,543
Other long-term liabilities	59,466		44,589
Deferred revenue, long-term	291,675		267,902
Deferred tax liabilities	25		63
Total long-term liabilities	 351,166		312,554
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)			
Shareholders' equity			
Preferred stock, no par value; 10,000 shares authorized, no shares outstanding	_		_
Common stock, no par value; 200,000 shares authorized, 60,818 and 62,594 shares issued and outstanding	20,008		17,627
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(21,983)		(17,997)
Retained earnings	1,267,950		1,229,762
Total shareholders' equity	1,265,975		1,229,392
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$ 2,561,066	\$	2,476,489

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS (unaudited, in thousands, except per share data)

	Three months ended June 30,				Nine months ended June 30,				
		2018		2017		2018		2017	
Net revenues									
Products	\$	238,835	\$	235,109	\$	703,696	\$	715,672	
Services		303,368		282,728		895,002		836,371	
Total		542,203	. ,	517,837		1,598,698		1,552,043	
Cost of net revenues									
Products		45,164		43,787		132,556		129,391	
Services		45,845		45,983		135,485		133,553	
Total		91,009		89,770		268,041		262,944	
Gross profit		451,194		428,067		1,330,657		1,289,099	
Operating expenses									
Sales and marketing		165,806		160,952		503,710		490,171	
Research and development		94,061		88,602		271,006		264,886	
General and administrative		39,374		39,368		118,634		119,055	
Litigation expense		_		1		_		(134)	
Total		299,241		288,923		893,350		873,978	
Income from operations		151,953		139,144		437,307		415,121	
Other income, net		2,259		2,589		7,194		6,534	
Income before income taxes		154,212		141,733		444,501		421,655	
Provision for income taxes		31,469		44,071		123,693		136,637	
Net income	\$	122,743	\$	97,662	\$	320,808	\$	285,018	
Net income per share — basic	\$	2.01	\$	1.53	\$	5.21	\$	4.42	
Weighted average shares — basic		60,970		63,935		61,531		64,539	
Net income per share — diluted	\$	1.99	\$	1.52	\$	5.16	\$	4.38	
Weighted average shares — diluted		61,633		64,361		62,214		65,116	

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(unaudited, in thousands)

	Three months ended June 30,				Nine months ended June 30,			
		2018		2017		2018		2017
Net income	\$	122,743	\$	97,662	\$	320,808	\$	285,018
Other comprehensive (loss) income:								
Foreign currency translation adjustment		(1,441)		444		(896)		(1,304)
Available-for-sale securities:								
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities, net of taxes of \$177 and \$(88) for the three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and \$(1,010) and \$(389) for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively		436		(147)		(3,100)		(649)
Reclassification adjustment for realized losses (gains) included in net income, net of taxes of \$0 and \$171 for the three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and \$(4) and \$186 for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively		1		(285)		10		(310)
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of tax		437		(432)		(3,090)		(959)
Total other comprehensive (loss) income		(1,004)		12		(3,986)		(2,263)
Comprehensive income	\$	121,739	\$	97,674	\$	316,822	\$	282,755

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(unaudited, in thousands)

Nine months ended June 30, 2018 2017 **Operating activities** 285,018 Net income \$ 320,808 \$ Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: Realized loss (gain) on disposition of assets and investments 64 (463)Stock-based compensation 121,007 133,740 Provisions for doubtful accounts and sales returns 1,494 385 Depreciation and amortization 44,081 45,603 Deferred income taxes 19,241 (1,307)Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable (6,945)(27,295)Inventories (1,488)3,007 Other current assets 11,590 1,063 Other assets (68)(425)Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (16,423)14,270 Deferred revenue 63,402 73,620 Net cash provided by operating activities 556,763 527,216 **Investing activities** Purchases of investments (499,084)(255,386)Maturities of investments 295,479 271,878 Sales of investments 10,748 65,857 Decrease (increase) in restricted cash 42 (87)Cash provided by sale of fixed asset 1,000 Acquisition of intangible assets (4,000)Purchases of property and equipment (36,074)(31,175)Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (227,889)47,087 Financing activities Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 6,471 46,959 Proceeds from the exercise of stock options and purchases of stock under employee stock purchase plan 48,818 Repurchase of common stock (450,064)(450,065)Net cash used in financing activities (401,246)(396,635)Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (72,372)177,668 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,588)(1,327)Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 673,228 514,571 Cash and cash equivalents, end of period \$ 599,268 690,912

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (unaudited)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

F5 Networks, Inc. (the "Company") is the leading developer and provider of software-defined application services. The Company's core technology is a full-proxy, programmable, highly-scalable software platform called TMOS, which supports a broad array of features and functions designed to ensure that applications delivered over Internet Protocol (IP) networks are secure, fast and available. The Company's TMOS-based offerings include software products for local and global traffic management, network and application security, access management, web acceleration and a number of other network and application services. These products are available as modules that can run individually or as part of an integrated solution on the Company's high-performance, scalable, purpose-built BIG-IP appliances and VIPRION chassis-based hardware, or as software-only Virtual Editions. The Company also offers distributed denial-of-service (DDoS) protection, application security and other application services by subscription on its cloud-based Silverline platform. In connection with its products, the Company offers a broad range of support services including consulting, training, installation and maintenance.

Basis of Presentation

The year-end consolidated balance sheet data was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In the opinion of management, the unaudited consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for their fair statement in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual financial statements have been condensed or omitted in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The information included in this Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017.

Certain prior period amounts relating to deferred taxes have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-17, *Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes*. See Note 1 - Recently Adopted Accounting Standards for additional information.

Revenue Recognition

The Company sells products through distributors, resellers, and directly to end users. Revenue is recognized provided that all of the following criteria have been met:

- Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. Evidence of an arrangement generally consists of a purchase order issued pursuant to the terms and conditions of a distributor, reseller or end user agreement.
- Delivery has occurred. The Company uses shipping or related documents, or written evidence of customer acceptance, when applicable, to verify delivery or completion of any performance terms.
- The sales price is fixed or determinable. The Company assesses whether the sales price is fixed or determinable based on payment terms associated with the transaction and whether the sales price is subject to refund or adjustment.
- Collectability is reasonably assured. The Company assesses collectability primarily based on the creditworthiness of the customer as determined by credit checks and related analysis, as well as the Customer's payment history.

Revenue from the sale of products is generally recognized when the product has been shipped and the customer is obligated to pay for the product. When rights of return are present and the Company cannot estimate returns, revenue is recognized when such rights of return lapse. Payment terms to domestic customers are generally net 30 days to net 45 days. Payment terms to international customers range from net 30 days to net 120 days based on normal and customary trade practices in the individual markets.

Revenues for post-contract customer support (PCS) are recognized on a straight-line basis over the service contract term. PCS includes a limited period of telephone support, updates, repair or replacement of any failed product or component that fails during the term of the agreement, bug fixes and rights to upgrades, when and if available. Consulting services are customarily billed at fixed hourly rates, plus out-of-pocket expenses, and revenues are recognized as the consulting is completed. Similarly, training revenue is recognized as the training is completed.

Arrangement consideration is first allocated between software (consisting of nonessential and stand-alone software) and non-software deliverables. The majority of the Company's products are hardware appliances which contain software essential to the overall functionality of the products. Hardware appliances are generally sold with PCS and on occasion, with consulting and/or training services. Arrangement consideration in such multiple element transactions is allocated to each element based on a fair value hierarchy, where the selling price for an element is based on vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE), if available, third-party evidence (TPE), if available and VSOE is not available; or the best estimate of selling price (BESP), if neither VSOE or TPE is available.

For software deliverables, the Company allocates revenue between multiple elements based on software revenue recognition guidance. Software revenue recognition guidance requires revenue earned on software arrangements involving multiple elements to be allocated to each element based on the relative fair values of those elements. The fair value of an element must be based on VSOE. Where VSOE of the fair value of delivered elements is not available, revenue is recognized on the "residual method" based on the fair value of undelivered elements. If evidence of fair value of one or more undelivered elements does not exist, all revenue is deferred and recognized at the earlier of the delivery of those elements or the establishment of fair value of the remaining undelivered elements.

The Company establishes VSOE for its products, PCS, consulting and training services based on the sales price charged for each element when sold separately. The sales price is discounted from the applicable list price based on various factors including the type of customer, volume of sales, geographic region and program level. The Company's list prices are generally not fair value as discounts may be given based on the factors enumerated above. The Company uses historical sales transactions to determine whether VSOE can be established for each of the elements. In most instances, VSOE of fair value is the sales price of actual standalone (unbundled) transactions within the past 12 month period, when a substantial majority of transactions (more than 80%) are priced within a narrow range, which the Company has determined to be plus or minus 15% of the median sales price.

The Company believes that the VSOE of fair value of training and consulting services is represented by the billable rate per hour, based on the rates charged to customers when they purchase standalone training or consulting services. The price of consulting services is not based on the type of customer, volume of sales, geographic region or program level.

The Company is typically not able to determine VSOE or TPE for non-software products. TPE is determined based on competitor prices for similar elements when sold separately. Generally, the Company's go-to-market strategy differs from that of other competitive products or services in its markets and the Company's offerings contain a significant level of differentiation such that the comparable pricing of products with similar functionality cannot be obtained. Furthermore, the Company is unable to reliably determine the selling prices on a stand-alone basis of similar products offered by its competitors.

When the Company is unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE, the Company uses BESP in its allocation of arrangement consideration. The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which the Company would transact a sale if the product or service were sold on a stand-alone basis. The Company has been able to establish BESP through the list price, less a discount deemed appropriate to maintain a reasonable gross margin. Management regularly reviews the gross margin information. Non-software product BESP is determined through the Company's review of historical sales transactions within the past 12 month period. Additional factors considered in determining an appropriate BESP include, but are not limited to, cost of products, pricing practices, geographies, customer classes, and distribution channels.

The Company regularly validates the VSOE of fair value and BESP for elements in its multiple element arrangements. The Company accounts for taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities on a net basis and excluded these amounts from revenues.

Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets acquired as of the acquisition date. The Company tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests when impairment indicators are identified, and goodwill is written down when impaired. Goodwill was recorded in connection with various acquisitions in fiscal year 2014 and prior years. For its annual goodwill impairment test in all periods to date, the Company has operated under one reporting unit and the fair value of its reporting unit has been determined by the Company's enterprise value. The Company performs its annual goodwill impairment test during the second fiscal quarter.

As described in the "Recently Adopted Accounting Standards" section of Note 1, the Company elected to early adopt ASU 2017-04 for its annual goodwill impairment test that was performed during the second quarter of fiscal 2018. ASU 2017-04 simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill to eliminate Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Instead, under the amendments in this Update, an entity should perform its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. For its annual impairment test performed in the second quarter of

fiscal 2018, the Company completed a quantitative assessment and determined that there was no impairment of goodwill. The Company also considered potential impairment indicators of goodwill at June 30, 2018 and noted no indicators of impairment.

As part of the annual goodwill impairment test, the Company has the option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether further impairment testing is necessary. Examples of events and circumstances that might indicate that the reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying amount include macroeconomic conditions such as deterioration in the entity's operating environment or industry or market considerations; entity-specific events such as increasing costs, declining financial performance, or loss of key personnel; or other events such as a sustained decrease in the stock price on either an absolute basis or relative to peers. If, as a result of its qualitative assessment, it is more-likely-than-not (i.e. greater than 50% chance) that the fair value of the Company's reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the quantitative impairment test will be required. Otherwise, no further testing will be required. If the Company chooses to bypass the qualitative assessment, it completes a quantitative assessment in performing its annual impairment test.

The Company's intangible assets subject to amortization are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, ranging from three to ten years. The Company evaluates the recoverability of intangible assets periodically by taking into account events or circumstances that may warrant revised estimates of useful lives or that indicate the asset may be impaired. The Company considered potential impairment indicators of acquired intangible assets at June 30, 2018 and noted no indicators of impairment.

Software Development Costs

The authoritative guidance requires certain internal software development costs related to software to be sold to be capitalized upon the establishment of technological feasibility. The Company's software development costs incurred subsequent to achieving technological feasibility have not been significant, and all software development costs have been expensed as research and development activities as incurred.

Internal Use Software

In accordance with the authoritative guidance, the Company capitalizes application development stage costs associated with the development of internal-use software and software developed related to its SaaS-based product offerings. The capitalized costs are then amortized over the estimated useful life of the software, which is generally three to five years, and are included in property and equipment in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the straight-line attribution method for recognizing compensation expense. The Company recognized \$38.7 million and \$43.2 million of stock-based compensation expense for the three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and \$121.0 million and \$133.7 million of stock-based compensation

expense for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of June 30, 2018, there was \$139.6 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation cost, the majority of which will be recognized over the next two years. Going forward, stock-based compensation expenses may increase as the Company issues additional equity-based awards to continue to attract and retain key employees.

The Company issues incentive awards to its employees through stock-based compensation consisting of restricted stock units (RSUs). On October 27, 2017, the Company's Board of Directors and Compensation Committee approved 1,086,939 RSUs to employees and executive officers pursuant to the Company's annual equity awards program. The value of RSUs is determined using the fair value method, which in this case, is based on the number of shares granted and the quoted price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant.

The Company recognizes compensation expense for only the portion of restricted stock units that are expected to vest. Therefore, the Company applies estimated forfeiture rates that are derived from historical employee termination behavior. Based on historical differences with forfeitures of stock-based awards granted to the Company's executive officers and Board of Directors versus grants awarded to all other employees, the Company has developed separate forfeiture expectations for these two groups. In determining the fair value of shares issued under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), the Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Compensation expense related to the shares issued pursuant to the ESPP is recognized on a straight-line basis over the offering period.

The Company issues incentive awards to certain current executive officers as part of its annual equity awards program. Fifty percent of the aggregate number of RSUs issued to executive officers vest in equal quarterly increments, and 50% are subject to the Company achieving specified performance goals.

For the prior year performance stock grants, attainment is based on the Company achieving specific quarterly revenue and EBITDA targets. In each case, 70% of the quarterly performance stock grant is based on achieving at least 80% of the quarterly revenue goal set by the Company's Board of Directors, and the other 30% is based on achieving at least 80% of the quarterly EBITDA goal set by the Company's Board of Directors. The quarterly performance stock grant is paid linearly over 80% of the targeted goals. At least 100% of both goals must be attained in order for the quarterly performance stock grant to be awarded over 100%. Each goal is evaluated individually and subject to the 80% achievement threshold and the 100% over-achievement threshold. Each goal is also capped at achievement of 200% above target.

For the fiscal 2018 performance stock grants, the Company's Compensation Committee adopted a new set of metrics that are differentiated from the quarterly revenue and EBITDA measures, including (1) 50% of the annual performance stock grant is based on achieving 80% of the annual revenue goal set by the Company's Board of Directors; (2) 25% of the annual performance stock grant is based on achieving at least a 15% increase in annual stand-alone software revenue compared to the prior year; and (3) 25% of the annual performance stock grant is based on relative total shareholder return benchmarked to the S&P 500 index. In each case, no vesting or payment with respect to a performance goal shall occur unless a minimum threshold is met for the applicable goal. Vesting and payment with respect to the performance goal is linear above the threshold of the applicable goal and is capped at achievement of 200% above target.

As of June 30, 2018, the following annual equity grants for executive officers or a portion thereof are outstanding:

Grant Date	RSUs Granted	Vesting Schedule	Vesting Period	Date Fully Vested
November 1, 2017	140,135	Annually	4 years	November 1, 2021
November 1, 2016	115,347	Quarterly	4 years	November 1, 2020
November 2, 2015	145,508	Quarterly	4 years	November 1, 2019
November 1, 2014	171,575	Quarterly	4 years	November 1, 2018

The Company recognizes compensation costs for awards with performance conditions when it concludes it is probable that the performance condition will be achieved. The Company reassesses the probability of vesting at each balance sheet date and adjusts compensation costs based on the probability assessment.

Common Stock Repurchase

On October 25, 2017, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized an additional \$1.0 billion for its common stock share repurchase program. This new authorization is incremental to the existing \$3.4 billion program, initially approved in October 2010 and expanded in each fiscal year. Acquisitions for the share repurchase programs will be made from time to time in private transactions or open market purchases as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements. The programs can be terminated at any time. As of June 30, 2018, the Company repurchased and retired 3,210,478 shares at an average price of \$140.19 per share during fiscal year 2018 and the Company had \$723.6 million remaining authorized to purchase shares at June 30, 2018.

Earnings Per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common and dilutive common stock equivalent shares outstanding during the period. The Company's nonvested restricted stock awards and restricted stock units do not have nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents and are not considered participating securities that should be included in the computation of earnings per share under the two-class method.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share (in thousands, except per share data):

Three months ended June 30,				Nine months ended June 30,			
2018		2017		2018			2017
\$	122,743	\$	97,662	\$	320,808	\$	285,018
	60,970		63,935		61,531		64,539
	663		426		683		577
	61,633		64,361		62,214		65,116
\$	2.01	\$	1.53	\$	5.21	\$	4.42
\$	1.99	\$	1.52	\$	5.16	\$	4.38
	\$ \$ \$ \$	\$ 122,743 \$ 122,743 60,970 663 61,633 \$ 2.01	\$ 122,743 \$ 60,970 \$ 663 61,633 \$ 2.01	June 30, 2018 2017 \$ 122,743 \$ 97,662 60,970 63,935 663 426 61,633 64,361 \$ 2.01 \$ 1.53	June 30, 2018 2017 \$ 122,743 \$ 97,662 \$ 60,970 63,935 663 426 61,633 64,361 \$ 2.01 \$ 1.53 \$	June 30, June 30, June 2018 2018 2017 2018 \$ 122,743 \$ 97,662 \$ 320,808 60,970 63,935 61,531 663 426 683 61,633 64,361 62,214 \$ 2.01 \$ 1.53 \$ 5.21	June 30, June 30, 2018 2017 2018 \$ 122,743 \$ 97,662 \$ 320,808 \$ 60,970 63,935 61,531 663 426 683 61,633 64,361 62,214 \$ 2.01 \$ 1.53 \$ 5.21

For the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, there were no common shares potentially issuable from stock options excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise price was greater than the average market price of common stock.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income includes certain changes in equity that are excluded from net income. Specifically, unrealized gains or losses on securities and foreign currency translation adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, *Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory* (ASU 2015-11), which changes the subsequent measurement of inventory from lower of cost or market to lower of cost and net realizable value. The Company adopted ASU 2015-11 during the first quarter of fiscal 2018. The adoption of ASU 2015-11 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, *Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes* (ASU 2015-17), which requires that all deferred tax assets and liabilities be classified as noncurrent in a classified balance sheet. The Company adopted ASU 2015-17 during the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 on a retrospective basis, which resulted in reclassification of \$53.0 million of deferred tax assets, net of deferred tax liabilities, from current to non-current as of September 30, 2017.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, *Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting* (ASU 2016-09), which is intended to simplify several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the accounting for income taxes, forfeitures, and statutory tax withholding requirements, as well as classification in the statement of cash flows.

The Company adopted ASU 2016-09 during the first quarter of fiscal year 2018. Excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies from share-based compensation are now recorded to the consolidated income statements rather than to additional paid-in capital within equity on a prospective basis. The Company recognized \$4.0 million and \$5.2 million of tax benefits for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively. The Company also elected to prospectively apply the change in presentation requirement wherein excess tax benefits of awards are classified as operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows. Prior periods have not been reclassified to conform to the fiscal 2018 presentation.

The Company did not elect an accounting policy change to record forfeitures as they occur and will continue to estimate forfeitures at each period.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, *Intangibles - Goodwill and Other: Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment* (ASU 2017-04), which simplifies the goodwill impairment process by eliminating Step 2 from the quantitative goodwill impairment test. Under this update, an entity should perform its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity should recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value; however, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods

within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company elected to early adopt ASU 2017-04 for its annual goodwill impairment test that was performed during the second quarter of fiscal 2018. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)* (ASU 2014-09). ASU 2014-09 and the related amendments outline a new, single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The new model will require revenue recognition to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration a company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. The standard can be applied either retrospectively to each period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date,* which delays the effective date of ASU 2014-09 by one year. The updated standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017 with early adoption permitted for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016.

The Company currently plans to adopt ASU 2014-09 in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 on a modified retrospective basis. The Company has initiated an assessment of its systems, data and processes related to the implementation of this accounting standard. Under the new standard, the Company expects to defer and amortize incremental costs to obtain a contract, which are primarily commission costs, over the expected customer life rather than expensing them as incurred under current practice. Additionally, under the new standard, the Company would be required to recognize a portion of term license revenues upfront, at the time of delivery rather than ratably over the related contract period. The Company does not anticipate that the implementation of this updated standard and related amendments will have a material impact on its consolidated income statements. The Company is continuing to evaluate the impact that this updated standard and the related amendments will have on its consolidated balance sheets and footnote disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, *Leases (Topic 842)* (ASU 2016-02), which requires lessees to recognize on the balance sheet a right-of-use asset, representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term, and a corresponding lease liability for all leases with terms greater than twelve months. The Company's leases consist of operating leases for its office and lab spaces. The guidance also requires qualitative and quantitative disclosures designed to assess the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. Adoption of the new lease standard requires measurement of leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented on a modified retrospective basis. The new standard will be effective for the Company beginning October 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company previously stated that it anticipates early adoption of the new standard in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 in conjunction with the adoption of the new revenue standard. However, after further assessment, the Company has decided to adopt the new standard on its original effective date of October 1, 2019. The Company is currently assessing the impact that this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (ASU 2016-13), which replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology in current GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (ASU 2016-15), which clarifies how companies present and classify certain cash receipts and cash payments in the statement of cash flows. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The Company is currently assessing the impact that this updated standard will have on its consolidated financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, *Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash* (ASU 2016-18), which will require a company's cash flow statement to explain the changes during a reporting period of the totals for cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents. Additionally, amounts for restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents are to be included with cash and cash equivalents if the cash flow statement includes a reconciliation of the total cash balances for a reporting period. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, *Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business* (ASU 2017-01), which provides a more robust framework to use in determining when a set of assets and activities is considered a business. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted for certain transactions. The Company will evaluate the impact of adopting this standard prospectively, for any transaction involving the acquisition or disposal of assets or businesses.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-08, *Receivables-Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs (Subtopic 310-20) - Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities* (ASU 2017-08), which shortens the amortization period for the premium on certain purchased callable debt securities to the earliest call date. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation-Stock Compensation (ASU 2017-09), which provides clarification on when modification accounting should be used for changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award. This ASU does not change the accounting for modifications but clarifies that modification accounting guidance should only be applied if there is a change to the value, vesting conditions or award classification and would not be required if the changes are considered non-substantive. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

2. Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with the authoritative guidance on fair value measurements and disclosure under GAAP, the Company determines fair value using a fair value hierarchy that distinguishes between market participant assumptions developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity, and the reporting entity's own assumptions about market participant assumptions developed based on the best information available in the circumstances and expands disclosure about fair value measurements.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, essentially the exit price.

The levels of fair value hierarchy are:

- Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities at the measurement date that the Company has the ability to access.
- Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.
- Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data available. These inputs reflect management's assumptions of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

Level 1 investments are valued based on quoted market prices in active markets and include the Company's cash equivalent investments. Level 2 investments, which include investments that are valued based on quoted prices in markets that are not active, broker or dealer quotations, actual trade data, benchmark yields or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency, include the Company's certificates of deposit, corporate bonds and notes, municipal bonds and notes, U.S. government securities, U.S. government agency securities and international government securities. Fair values for the Company's level 2 investments are based on similar assets without applying significant judgments. In addition, all of the Company's level 2 investments have a sufficient level of trading volume to demonstrate that the fair values used are appropriate for these investments.

A financial instrument's level within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. However, the determination of what constitutes "observable" requires significant judgment by the Company. The Company considers observable data to be market data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.

The Company's financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis subject to the disclosure requirements at June 30, 2018, were as follows (in thousands):

	 Fair Value M	e Using					
	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Securities (Level 1) Significant Other Observable Unobservable Inputs Inputs (Level 2)		Unobservable Inputs]	Fair Value at June 30, 2018		
Cash equivalents	\$ 22,626	\$	3,644	\$	_	\$	26,270
Short-term investments							
Available-for-sale securities — certificates of deposits	_		1,742				1,742
Available-for-sale securities — corporate bonds and notes			266,082		_		266,082
Available-for-sale securities — municipal bonds and notes	_		41,044				41,044
Available-for-sale securities — U.S. government securities	_		107,319		_		107,319
Available-for-sale securities — U.S. government agency securities	_		69,045		_		69,045
Long-term investments							
Available-for-sale securities — corporate bonds and notes	_		269,842		_		269,842
Available-for-sale securities — municipal bonds and notes			21,168		_		21,168
Available-for-sale securities — U.S. government securities	_		18,195		_		18,195
Available-for-sale securities — U.S. government agency securities			20,207				20,207
Total	\$ 22,626	\$	818,288	\$	_	\$	840,914

The Company's financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis subject to the disclosure requirements at September 30, 2017, were as follows (in thousands):

		Fair Value M	leasur	rements at Reporting	Date	e Using		
	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Securities (Level 1)		Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)		Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)		air Value at ptember 30, 2017	
Cash equivalents	\$	13,967	\$	3,192	\$	_	\$ 17,159	
Short-term investments								
Available-for-sale securities — corporate bonds and notes		_		172,493		_	172,493	
Available-for-sale securities — municipal bonds and notes		_		67,409		_	67,409	
Available-for-sale securities — U.S. government securities		_		72,930		_	72,930	
Available-for-sale securities — U.S. government agency securities		_		30,868		_	30,868	
Long-term investments								
Available-for-sale securities — corporate bonds and notes		_		191,782		_	191,782	
Available-for-sale securities — municipal bonds and notes		_		26,643		_	26,643	
Available-for-sale securities — U.S. government securities		_		29,374		_	29,374	
Available-for-sale securities — U.S. government agency securities		_		37,003		_	37,003	
Total	\$	13,967	\$	631,694	\$	_	\$ 645,661	

The Company uses the fair value hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities. The Company's non-financial assets and liabilities, which include goodwill, intangible assets, and long-lived assets, are not required to be carried at fair value on a recurring basis. These non-financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis when there is an indicator of impairment, and they are recorded at fair value only when impairment is recognized. The Company reviews goodwill and intangible assets for impairment annually, during the second quarter of each fiscal year, or as circumstances indicate the possibility of impairment. The Company monitors the carrying value of long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate its carrying amount may not be recoverable. During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company did not recognize any impairment charges related to goodwill, intangible assets, or long-lived assets.

The carrying amounts of other current financial assets and other current financial liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.

3. Short-Term and Long-Term Investments

Short-term investments consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30, 2018	 Cost or Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
Certificates of deposits	\$ 1,742	\$ _	\$ _	\$ 1,742
Corporate bonds and notes	266,930	5	(853)	266,082
Municipal bonds and notes	41,091	5	(52)	41,044
U.S. government securities	107,542	_	(223)	107,319
U.S. government agency securities	69,203	_	(158)	69,045
	\$ 486,508	\$ 10	\$ (1,286)	\$ 485,232

September 30, 2017	Cost or Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
Corporate bonds and notes	\$ 172,560	\$ 25	\$ (92)	\$ 172,493
Municipal bonds and notes	67,382	36	(9)	67,409
U.S. government securities	72,991	_	(61)	72,930
U.S. government agency securities	30,954	_	(86)	30,868
	\$ 343,887	\$ 61	\$ (248)	\$ 343,700

Long-term investments consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30, 2018	Cost or Amortized Cost		Gross Unrealized Gains		Gross Unrealized Losses		Fair Value
Corporate bonds and notes	\$ 273,022	\$	18	\$	(3,198)	\$	269,842
Municipal bonds and notes	21,304		_		(136)		21,168
U.S. government securities	18,401		_		(206)		18,195
U.S. government agency securities	20,401		_		(194)		20,207
	\$ 333,128	\$	18	\$	(3,734)	\$	329,412

September 30, 2017	A	Cost or Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
Corporate bonds and notes	\$	192,278	\$ 25	\$ (521)	\$ 191,782
Municipal bonds and notes		26,639	46	(42)	26,643
U.S. government securities		29,427	_	(53)	29,374
U.S. government agency securities		37,164	_	(161)	37,003
	\$	285,508	\$ 71	\$ (777)	\$ 284,802

The following table summarizes investments that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for less than 12 months and those that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for more than 12 months as of June 30, 2018 (in thousands):

		Less Than 12 Months			12 Months or Greater				Total			
June 30, 2018	ı	Fair Value		Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value		Gross Unrealized Losses		Fair Value		Gross Unrealized Losses	
Corporate bonds and notes	\$	453,680	\$	(3,661)	\$ 42,658	\$	(390)	\$	496,338	\$	(4,051)	
Municipal bonds and notes		50,766		(188)	_		_		50,766		(188)	
U.S. government securities		115,069		(419)	7,986		(10)		123,055		(429)	
U.S. government agency securities		35,605		(140)	46,996		(212)		82,601		(352)	
Total	\$	655,120	\$	(4,408)	\$ 97,640	\$	(612)	\$	752,760	\$	(5,020)	

The following table summarizes investments that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for less than 12 months and those that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for more than 12 months as of September 30, 2017 (in thousands):

	 Less Than	n 12 Months		12 Months or Greater				Total			
September 30, 2017	Fair Value		Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value		Gross Unrealized Losses		Fair Value		Gross Unrealized Losses	
Corporate bonds and notes	\$ 262,852	\$	(528)	\$ 35,401	\$	(85)	\$	298,253	\$	(613)	
Municipal bonds and notes	30,256		(49)	881		(2)		31,137		(51)	
U.S. government securities	94,312		(105)	7,992		(9)		102,304		(114)	
U.S. government agency securities	36,121		(83)	31,750		(164)		67,871		(247)	
Total	\$ 423,541	\$	(765)	\$ 76,024	\$	(260)	\$	499,565	\$	(1,025)	

The Company invests in securities that are rated investment grade or better. The Company reviews the individual securities in its portfolio to determine whether a decline in a security's fair value below the amortized cost basis is other-than-temporary. The Company determined that as of June 30, 2018, there were no investments in its portfolio that were other-than-temporarily impaired.

4. Inventories

The Company outsources the manufacturing of its pre-configured hardware platforms to contract manufacturers, who assemble each product to the Company's specifications. As protection against component shortages and to provide replacement parts for its service teams, the Company also stocks limited supplies of certain key product components. The Company reduces inventory to net realizable value based on excess and obsolete inventories determined primarily by historical usage and forecasted demand. Inventories consist of hardware and related component parts and are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value (as determined by the first-in, first-out method).

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

	June 30, 2018		September 30, 2017
Finished goods	\$ 21,	529	\$ 20,280
Raw materials	9,	793	9,554
	\$ 31,		\$ 29,834

5. Commitments and Contingencies

Guarantees and Product Warranties

In the normal course of business to facilitate sales of its products, the Company indemnifies other parties, including customers, resellers, lessors, and parties to other transactions with the Company, with respect to certain matters. The Company has agreed to hold the other party harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations or covenants, or out of intellectual property infringement or other claims made against certain parties. These agreements may limit the time within

which an indemnification claim can be made and the amount of the claim. The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with its officers and directors and certain other employees, and the Company's bylaws contain similar indemnification obligations to the Company's agents. It is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount under these indemnification agreements due to the limited history of prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement.

The Company generally offers warranties of one year for hardware for those customers without service contracts, with the option of purchasing additional warranty coverage in yearly increments. The Company accrues for warranty costs as part of its cost of sales based on associated material product costs and technical support labor costs. Accrued warranty costs as of June 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017 were not considered material.

Commitments

As of June 30, 2018, the Company's principal commitments consisted of obligations outstanding under operating leases. The Company leases its facilities under operating leases that expire at various dates through 2033. There have been no material changes in the Company's lease obligations compared to those discussed in Note 7 to its annual consolidated financial statements.

The Company currently has arrangements with contract manufacturers and other suppliers for the manufacturing of its products. The arrangement with the primary contract manufacturer allows them to procure component inventory on the Company's behalf based on a rolling production forecast provided by the Company. The Company is obligated to the purchase of component inventory that the contract manufacturer procures in accordance with the forecast, unless it gives notice of order cancellation in advance of applicable lead times. As of June 30, 2018, the Company's purchase obligations were \$34.1 million.

Legal Proceedings

On April 4, 2016, the Company sued Radware, Inc. in the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington (the case was subsequently moved to the Northern District of California) accusing Radware of infringing three Company patents. The Company's complaint seeks a jury trial and an unspecified amount of monetary damages, as well as interest, costs, and injunctive relief. Radware moved to dismiss the allegations of one patent but the motion was denied.

Radware has filed a counterclaim separately asserting that the Company is infringing U.S. patent no. 9,231,853, an ISP link load balancing patent related to the patents previously asserted by Radware in litigation in California that has been completed. Radware claims that the Company's BIG-IP product infringes. The counterclaim seeks injunctive relief and unspecified damages.

The Company has denied infringement and asserted that the '853 patent is invalid. Both parties filed inter partes reviews (IPRs) on the patents asserted against them. All of Radware's IPRs were denied and the Company's IPR against the '853 patent resulted in cancellation of all but four of the '853 claims and the allowance of one new claim. The Court has entered a schedule for trial in November of 2019. Radware has indicated that it will seek a preliminary injunction to preclude infringement of the claims that survived the IPR.

In addition to the above referenced matters, the Company is subject to other legal proceedings, claims, and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. Management believes that the Company has meritorious defenses to the allegations made in its pending cases and intends to vigorously defend these lawsuits; however, the Company is unable currently to determine the ultimate outcome of these or similar matters or the potential exposure to loss, if any. There are many uncertainties associated with any litigation and these actions or other third-party claims against the Company may cause it to incur costly litigation and/or substantial settlement charges that could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

The Company records an accrual for loss contingencies for legal proceedings when it believes that an unfavorable outcome is both (a) probable and (b) the amount or range of any possible loss is reasonably estimable. The Company has not recorded an accrual for loss contingencies associated with the legal proceedings or the investigations discussed above.

6. Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was 20.4% and 27.8% for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, compared to 31.1% and 32.4% for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2017, respectively. The effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 includes various impacts from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted on December 22, 2017. These impacts include a reduction in the U.S. federal income tax rate from 35.0% to 24.5%, partially offset for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 with a \$7.0 million provisional tax expense for the deemed repatriation of undistributed foreign earnings, and a \$11.6 million expense from the remeasurement of the Company's net deferred tax assets to reflect the change in the U.S. federal income tax rate when temporary differences are expected to reverse. The U.S. federal income tax rate for fiscal year 2018 is 24.5% and reduces to 21% in fiscal year 2019.

In accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No. 118, the Company recorded a provisional tax expense of \$7.0 million related to the deemed repatriation of undistributed foreign earnings in the period ended December 31, 2017. The Company did not record any adjustments to the provisional tax expense in the period ended June 30, 2018. Additional regulatory guidance may result in a change to the provisional amount. SAB No. 118 provides a one-year measurement period to complete the accounting.

At June 30, 2018, the Company had \$27.3 million of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate. It is anticipated that the Company's existing liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits will change within the next twelve months due to audit settlements or the expiration of statutes of limitations. The Company does not expect these changes to be material to the consolidated financial statements. The Company recognizes interest and, if applicable, penalties for any uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as the income tax of multiple state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company has concluded all U.S. federal income tax matters for fiscal years through September 30, 2014. The Company is currently under audit by the IRS for fiscal year 2016 and by various states for fiscal years 2013 through 2016. Major jurisdictions where there are wholly owned subsidiaries of F5 Networks, Inc. which require income tax filings include the United Kingdom, Japan, Singapore, and Australia. The earliest periods open for review by local taxing authorities are fiscal years 2016 for the United Kingdom, 2012 for Japan, 2013 for Singapore, and 2014 for Australia. Within the next four fiscal quarters, the statute of limitations will begin to close on the fiscal year 2015 federal income tax return, fiscal years 2013, 2014, and 2015 state income tax returns, and fiscal years 2012 to 2016 foreign income tax returns.

7. Geographic Sales and Significant Customers

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available and evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision-maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Management has determined that the Company is organized as, and operates in, one reportable operating segment: the development, marketing and sale of application delivery networking products that optimize the security, performance and availability of network applications, servers and storage systems.

The Company does business in four main geographic regions: the Americas (primarily the United States); Europe, the Middle East, and Africa (EMEA); Japan; and the Asia Pacific region (APAC). The Company's chief operating decision-making group reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis accompanied by information about revenues by geographic region. The Company's foreign offices conduct sales, marketing and support activities. Revenues are attributed by geographic location based on the location of the customer.

The following presents revenues by geographic region (in thousands):

		Three months ended June 30,				nths en ne 30,	hs ended 30,	
	201	8		2017	2018		2017	
Americas:								
United States	\$ 2	75,011	\$	269,975	\$ 805,594	\$	791,643	
Other		30,453		27,331	87,359		84,211	
Total Americas	3	05,464		297,306	892,953		875,854	
EMEA	1	30,821		121,578	406,712		377,779	
Japan		23,008		22,128	67,960		71,415	
Asia Pacific		82,910		76,825	231,073		226,995	
	\$ 5	42,203	\$	517,837	\$ 1,598,698	\$	1,552,043	
	18							

The following distributors of the Company's products accounted for more than 10% of total net revenue:

	Three months June 30,		Nine months ended June 30,			
	2018	2017	2018	2017		
Ingram Micro, Inc.	16.9%	16.8%	16.3%	16.4%		
Tech Data ¹	11.0%	12.2%	11.8%	12.4%		
Arrow ECS	10.5%	_	10.9%	10.4%		
Synnex Corporation ²	11.4%	_	11.2%			
Westcon Group, Inc.	10.1%	19.1%	10.4%	18.6%		

- 1) On February 27, 2017, Tech Data completed the acquisition of Avnet Technology Solutions.
- (2) On September 1, 2017, Synnex Corporation completed the acquisition of Westcon Americas.

The Company tracks assets by physical location. Long-lived assets consist of property and equipment, net, and are shown below (in thousands):

	•	June 30, 2018	Se	eptember 30, 2017
United States	\$	108,542	\$	103,486
EMEA		13,155		15,054
Other countries		4,411		3,880
	\$	126,108	\$	122,420

8. Subsequent Events

On July 20, 2018, the Company initiated implementation of a restructuring program to match strategic and financial objectives and optimize resources for long term growth, including a reduction in force program affecting approximately 230 employees. As part of the restructuring, the Company plans to close its Lowell, Massachusetts office and reduce leased office space.

The Company estimates expenses relating to these actions at approximately \$23.0 million to \$25.0 million. The Company currently expects the reduction in force charges, consisting primarily of severance benefits, to be in the range of \$20.0 million to \$21.5 million; and the lease space reduction, consisting of lease termination and other facility costs, to be in the range of \$3.0 million to \$3.5 million. The Company anticipates that most of these charges will be recognized in the Company's fourth fiscal quarter of 2018.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements about our plans, objectives, expectations, strategies, intentions or other characterizations of future events or circumstances and are generally identified by the words "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "plans," "believes," "seeks," "estimates," and similar expressions. These forward-looking statements are based on current information and expectations and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in Part II, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" herein and in other documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We assume no obligation to revise or update any such forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are a global provider of software-defined application services designed to ensure the fast, secure and reliable delivery of applications and data. Our products include hardware and software systems, software-only solutions, cloud-based subscription services and a common management framework that enables customers to accelerate, optimize, secure and manage applications across hybrid computing infrastructures that combine traditional networks and data centers with software-defined networks, virtualized data centers and cloud-based resources (multi-cloud environments). We market and sell our products primarily through multiple indirect sales channels in the Americas (primarily the United States); Europe, the Middle East, and Africa (EMEA); Japan; and the Asia Pacific region (APAC). Enterprise customers (Fortune 1000 or Business Week Global

1000 companies) in the technology, telecommunications, financial services, transportation, education, manufacturing and health care industries, along with government customers, continue to make up the largest percentage of our customer base.

Our management team monitors and analyzes a number of key performance indicators in order to manage our business and evaluate our financial and operating performance on a consolidated basis. Those indicators include:

- Revenues. The majority of our revenues are derived from sales of our application delivery controller (ADC) products including our BIG-IP appliances and high end VIPRION chassis and related software modules and our software-only Virtual Editions; Local Traffic Manager (LTM), DNS Services (formerly Global Traffic Manager); Advanced Firewall Manager (AFM) and Policy Enforcement Manager (PEM), that leverage the unique performance characteristics of our hardware and software architecture; and products that incorporate acquired technology, including Application Security Manager (ASM) and Access Policy Manager (APM); signaling delivery controller products (SDC); and the WebSafe, MobileSafe, Secure Web Gateway and Silverline DDoS and Application security offerings which are sold to customers on a subscription basis. We also derive revenues from the sales of services including annual maintenance contracts, training and consulting services. We carefully monitor the sales mix of our revenues within each reporting period. We believe customer acceptance rates of our new products and feature enhancements are indicators of future trends. We also consider overall revenue concentration by customer and by geographic region as additional indicators of current and future trends.
- Cost of revenues and gross margins. We strive to control our cost of revenues and thereby maintain our gross margins. Significant items impacting cost of revenues are hardware costs paid to our contract manufacturers, third-party software license fees, Silverline infrastructure, amortization of developed technology and personnel and overhead expenses. Our margins have remained relatively stable; however, factors such as sales price, product and services mix, inventory obsolescence, returns, component price increases and warranty costs could significantly impact our gross margins from quarter to quarter and represent significant indicators we monitor on a regular basis.
- Operating expenses. Operating expenses are substantially driven by personnel and related overhead expenses. Existing headcount and future hiring plans
 are the predominant factors in analyzing and forecasting future operating expense trends. Other significant operating expenses that we monitor include
 marketing and promotions, travel, professional fees, computer costs related to the development of new products and provision of services, facilities and
 depreciation expenses.
- Liquidity and cash flows. Our financial condition remains strong with significant cash and investments and no long term debt. The increase in cash and investments for the first nine months of fiscal year 2018 was primarily due to cash provided by operating activities of \$556.8 million, largely offset by \$450.1 million of cash used to repurchase outstanding common stock under our stock repurchase program. Going forward, we believe the primary driver of cash flows will be net income from operations. Capital expenditures of \$36.1 million for the first nine months of fiscal year 2018 were primarily related to the expansion of our facilities to support our operations worldwide as well as investments in information technology infrastructure and equipment purchases to support our core business activities. We will continue to evaluate possible acquisitions of, or investments in businesses, products, or technologies that we believe are strategic, which may require the use of cash.
- Balance sheet. We view cash, short-term and long-term investments, deferred revenue, accounts receivable balances and days sales outstanding as important indicators of our financial health. Deferred revenues increased in the third quarter of fiscal year 2018 due to growth in the amount of annual maintenance contracts purchased on new products and maintenance renewal contracts related to our existing product installation base. Our days sales outstanding for the third quarter of fiscal year 2018 was 49.

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our financial condition and results of operations requires us to make judgments and estimates that may have a significant impact upon our financial results. We believe that, of our significant accounting policies, the following require estimates and assumptions that require complex, subjective judgments by management, which can materially impact reported results: revenue recognition; reserve for doubtful accounts; reserve for product returns; accounting for income taxes; stock-based compensation; goodwill and intangible assets; and investments. None of these accounting policies and estimates have significantly changed since our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2017 (Form 10-K). Critical accounting policies and estimates are more fully described in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in the Form 10-K. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, related notes and risk factors included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

		Three months ended June 30,				Nine months ended June 30,				
		2018		2017		2018		2017		
				(in thousands, ex	cept p	ercentages)				
Net Revenues										
Products	\$	238,835	\$	235,109	\$	703,696	\$	715,672		
Services		303,368		282,728		895,002		836,371		
Total	\$	542,203	\$	517,837	\$	1,598,698	\$	1,552,043		
Percentage of net revenues	_									
Products		44.0%		45.4%		44.0%		46.1%		
Services		56.0		54.6		56.0		53.9		
Total		100.0%		100.0%		100.0%		100.0%		

Net revenues. Total net revenues increased 4.7% and 3.0% for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, from the same periods in the prior year. Overall revenue growth for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, was primarily due to increased service revenues as a result of our increased installed base of products. International revenues represented 49.3% and 49.6% of total net revenues for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, compared to 47.9% and 49.0% for the same periods in the prior year, respectively. We expect international sales will continue to represent a significant portion of net revenues, although we cannot provide assurance that international revenues as a percentage of net revenues will remain at current levels.

Net product revenues increased 1.6% for the three months ended June 30, 2018, from the same period in the prior year. The increase in net product revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2018 was due to an increase of \$4.8 million in sales of our ADN products from the same period in the prior year. Net product revenues decreased 1.7% for the nine months ended June 30, 2018, from the same period in the prior year. The decrease in net product revenues for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 was due to a decrease of \$10.8 million in sales of our ADN products from the same period in the prior year.

Net service revenues increased 7.3% and 7.0% for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, from the same periods in the prior year. The increase in net service revenues was primarily due to increases in the purchase or renewal of maintenance contracts driven by additions to our installed base of products.

The following distributors of the Company's products accounted for more than 10% of total net revenue:

	Three months June 30		Nine months ended June 30,			
	2018	2017	2018	2017		
Ingram Micro, Inc.	16.9%	16.8%	16.3%	16.4%		
Tech Data ¹	11.0%	12.2%	11.8%	12.4%		
Arrow ECS	10.5%	_	10.9%	10.4%		
Synnex Corporation ²	11.4%	_	11.2%	_		
Westcon Group, Inc.	10.1%	19.1%	10.4%	18.6%		

- (1) On February 27, 2017, Tech Data completed the acquisition of Avnet Technology Solutions.
- (2) On September 1, 2017, Synnex Corporation completed the acquisition of Westcon Americas.

The following distributors of the Company's products accounted for more than 10% of total receivables:

	June 30, 2018	September 30, 2017	June 30, 2017
Ingram Micro, Inc.	12.3%		12.3%
Westcon Group, Inc.	11.0%	_	21.5%
Arrow ECS	10.1%	11.5%	10.8%
Synnex Corporation ¹	16.4%	13.6%	_

(1) On September 1, 2017, Synnex Corporation completed the acquisition of Westcon Americas.

No other distributors accounted for more than 10% of total net revenue or receivables.

		Three months ended June 30,				Nine months ended June 30,			
		2018		2017		2018		2017	
				(in thousands, ex	cept p	ercentages)			
Cost of net revenues and Gross Margin									
Products	\$	45,164	\$	43,787	\$	132,556	\$	129,391	
Services		45,845		45,983		135,485		133,553	
Total	'	91,009		89,770		268,041		262,944	
Gross profit	\$	451,194	\$	428,067	\$	1,330,657	\$	1,289,099	
Percentage of net revenues and Gross Margin (as a percentage of rel	lated net r	evenue)							
Products		18.9%		18.6%		18.8%		18.1%	
Services		15.1		16.3		15.1		16.0	
Total		16.8		17.3		16.8		16.9	
Gross profit		83.2%		82.7%		83.2%		83.1%	

Cost of net product revenues. Cost of net product revenues consist of finished products purchased from our contract manufacturiers, manufacturing overhead, freight, warranty, provisions for excess and obsolete inventory and amortization expenses in connection with developed technology from acquisitions. Cost of net product revenues increased 3.1% and 2.4% for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, from the comparable periods in the prior year. The increase in cost of net product revenues for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 is due to an increase in payments to our contract manufacturers due to global memory shortages, additional investments in our subscription-based software services, and product transitions away from older generation appliances to the new iSeries platform.

Cost of net service revenues. Cost of net service revenues consist of the salaries and related benefits of our professional services staff, travel, facilities and depreciation expenses. For both the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, cost of net service revenues as a percentage of net service revenues was 15.1%, compared to 16.3% and 16.0% for the same periods in the prior year, respectively. The decrease in cost of net service revenues as a percentage of net service revenues is primarily due to the scalability of our existing customer support infrastructure and increased revenue from maintenance contracts. Professional services headcount at the end of June 2018 decreased to 906 from 919 at the end of June 2017. In addition, cost of net service revenues included stock-based compensation expense of \$4.4 million and \$14.2 million for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, compared to \$4.8 million and \$14.6 million for the same periods in the prior year, respectively.

		Three months ended June 30,				Nine months ended June 30,			
		2018		2017		2018		2017	
				(in thousands, e	xcept p	ercentages)			
Operating expenses									
Sales and marketing	\$	165,806	\$	160,952	\$	503,710	\$	490,171	
Research and development		94,061		88,602		271,006		264,886	
General and administrative		39,374		39,368		118,634		119,055	
Litigation expense		_		1				(134)	
Total	\$	299,241	\$	288,923	\$	893,350	\$	873,978	
Operating expenses (as a percentage of net revenue)			-				-		
Sales and marketing		30.6%		31.1%		31.5%		31.6 %	
Research and development		17.3		17.1		17.0		17.0	
General and administrative		7.3		7.6		7.4		7.7	
Litigation expense		_		_		_			
Total		55.2%		55.8%		55.9%		56.3 %	

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist of salaries, commissions and related benefits of our sales and marketing staff, the costs of our marketing programs, including public relations, advertising and trade shows, travel, facilities, and depreciation expenses. Sales and marketing expenses increased 3.0% and 2.8% for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, from the comparable periods in the prior year. The increase in sales and marketing expense was primarily due to an increase of \$3.9 million and \$7.6 million in commissions for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, from the comparable periods in the prior year. Sales and marketing headcount at the end of June 2018 decreased to 1,721 from 1,794 at the end of June 2017 due to a reduction in workforce that took place in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2017. Sales and marketing expense included stock-based compensation expense of \$16.2 million and \$47.2 million for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, compared to \$17.5 million and \$52.7 million for the same periods in the prior year, respectively.

Research and development . Research and development expenses consist of the salaries and related benefits of our product development personnel, prototype materials and other expenses related to the development of new and improved products, facilities and depreciation expenses. Research and development expenses increased 6.2% and 2.3% for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 , respectively, from the comparable periods in the prior year. The increase in research and development expense was primarily due to an increase of \$2.5 million and \$4.1 million in personnel costs for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 , respectively, from the comparable periods in the prior year. In addition, fees paid to outside consultants for research and development services increased \$2.6 million and \$4.8 million for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 , respectively, from the comparable periods in the prior year. Research and development headcount at the end of June 2018 increased to 1,284 from 1,240 at the end of June 2017 . Research and development expense included stock-based compensation expense of \$11.5 million and \$36.4 million for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 , respectively, compared to \$13.6 million and \$41.4 million for the same periods in the prior year, respectively. We expect research and development expenses to remain consistent as a percentage of net revenue in the foreseeable future.

General and administrative . General and administrative expenses consist of the salaries, benefits and related costs of our executive, finance, information technology, human resource and legal personnel, third-party professional service fees, bad debt charges, facilities and depreciation expenses. General and administrative expenses remained relatively flat for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, from the comparable periods in the prior year. General and administrative headcount at the end of June 2018 remained consistent at 467 compared with the end of June 2017. Stock-based compensation expense was \$6.1 million and \$21.4 million for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, compared to \$6.7 million and \$23.5 million for the same periods in the prior year, respectively.

		Three months ended June 30,				Nine months ended June 30,			
	2018			2017		2018		2017	
				(in thousands, e	xcept p	ercentages)			
Other income and income taxes									
Income from operations	\$	151,953	\$	139,144	\$	437,307	\$	415,121	
Other income, net		2,259		2,589		7,194		6,534	
Income before income taxes		154,212		141,733		444,501		421,655	
Provision for income taxes		31,469		44,071		123,693		136,637	
Net income	\$	122,743	\$	97,662	\$	320,808	\$	285,018	
Other income and income taxes (as percentage of net revenue)	===								
Income from operations		28.0%		26.9%		27.4%		26.8%	
Other income, net		0.4		0.5		0.4		0.4	
Income before income taxes		28.4		27.4		27.8		27.2	
Provision for income taxes		5.8		8.5		7.7		8.8	
Net income		22.6%		18.9%		20.1%		18.4%	

Other income, net. Other income, net consists primarily of interest income and foreign currency transaction gains and losses. Other income, net remained relatively flat for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, from the comparable periods in the prior year.

Provision for income taxes. The effective tax rate was 20.4% and 27.8% for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, compared to 31.1% and 32.4% for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2017, respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 is primarily due to the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted on December 22, 2017. Significant impacts include a reduction in the U.S. federal income tax rate from 35.0% to 24.5%, partially offset for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 with a tax on the deemed repatriation of undistributed foreign earnings as of December 31, 2017 and a remeasurement of the Company's net deferred tax assets. Several provisions of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act are not effective for the Company until fiscal year 2019, including a further reduction in the U.S. federal income tax rate to 21%, a deduction for foreign derived intangible income, and repeal of the deduction for income attributable to domestic production activities.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount we believe is more likely than not to be realized. In making these determinations we consider historical and projected taxable income, and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the appropriateness of a valuation allowance. Our net deferred tax assets at June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 were \$35.1 million and \$50.5 million, respectively. The net deferred tax assets include valuation allowances of \$19.6 million and \$16.4 million as of June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017, respectively, which are primarily related to tax net operating losses incurred in certain foreign jurisdictions, and state tax carryforwards.

Our worldwide effective tax rate may fluctuate based on a number of factors, including variations in projected taxable income in the various geographic locations in which we operate, changes in the valuation of our net deferred tax assets, resolution of potential exposures, tax positions taken on tax returns filed in the various geographic locations in which we operate, and the introduction of new accounting standards or changes in tax laws or interpretations thereof in the various geographic locations in which we operate. We have recorded liabilities to address potential tax exposures related to business and income tax positions we have taken that could be challenged by taxing authorities. The ultimate resolution of these potential exposures may be greater or less than the liabilities recorded which could result in an adjustment to our future tax expense.

In accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, the Company recorded a provisional tax expense related to the deemed repatriation of undistributed foreign earnings. Additional regulatory guidance may result in a change to the provisional amount.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments totaled \$1,413.9 million as of June 30, 2018, compared to \$1,301.7 million as of September 30, 2017, representing an increase of \$112.2 million. The increase was primarily due to cash provided by operating activities of \$556.8 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2018, which was largely offset by \$450.1 million of cash used for the repurchase of outstanding common stock under our stock repurchase program. Cash provided by operating activities for the first nine months of fiscal year 2018 resulted from net income of \$320.8 million combined with changes in operating assets and liabilities, as adjusted for various non-cash items including stock-based compensation, deferred revenue, depreciation and amortization charges. Based on our current operating and capital expenditure forecasts, we believe that our existing cash and investment balances, together with cash generated from operations should be sufficient to meet our operating requirements for at least the next twelve months.

Cash used in investing activities was \$227.9 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2018, compared to cash provided by investing activities of \$47.1 million for the same period in the prior year. Investing activities include purchases, sales and maturities of available-for-sale securities, business acquisitions, capital expenditures and changes in restricted cash requirements. The amount of cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily the result of the purchase of investments and capital expenditures related to the build-out of our new corporate headquarters and the expansion of our international facilities, partially offset by the sale and maturity of investments.

Cash used in financing activities was \$401.2 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2018, compared to cash used in financing activities of \$396.6 million for the same period in the prior year. Our financing activities for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 consisted of cash required for the repurchase of outstanding common stock under our stock repurchase program of \$450.1 million, partially offset by cash received from the exercise of employee stock options and stock purchases under our employee stock purchase plan of \$48.8 million.

Obligations and Commitments

As of June 30, 2018, our principal commitments consisted of obligations outstanding under operating leases. We lease our facilities under operating leases that expire at various dates through 2033. There have been no material changes in our principal lease commitments compared to those discussed in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017.

We outsource the manufacturing of our pre-configured hardware platforms to contract manufacturers who assemble each product to our specifications. Our agreement with our largest contract manufacturer allows them to procure component inventory on our behalf based upon a rolling production forecast. We are contractually obligated to purchase the component inventory in accordance with the forecast, unless we give notice of order cancellation in advance of applicable lead times.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The anticipated impact of recent accounting pronouncements is discussed in Note 1 to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk. We maintain an investment portfolio of various holdings, types, and maturities. Our primary objective for holding fixed income securities is to achieve an appropriate investment return consistent with preserving principal and managing risk. At any time, a sharp rise in market interest rates could have a material adverse impact on the fair value of our fixed income investment portfolio. Conversely, declines in interest rates, including the impact from lower credit spreads, could have a material adverse impact on interest income for our investment portfolio. Our fixed income investments are held for purposes other than trading. Our fixed income investments were not leveraged as of June 30, 2018. We monitor our interest rate and credit risks, including our credit exposures to specific rating categories and to individual issuers. As of June 30, 2018, 26.4% of our fixed income securities balance consisted of U.S. government and U.S. government agency securities. We believe the overall credit quality of our portfolio is strong.

Foreign Currency Risk. The majority of our sales and expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars and as a result, we have not experienced significant foreign currency transaction gains and losses to date.

Management believes there have been no material changes to our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk during the nine month period ended June 30, 2018, compared to those discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2017.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) are designed to ensure that required information is properly recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the required timeframe, as specified in the rules set forth by the SEC. Our disclosure controls and procedures are also designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2018. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2018.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the period covered by this quarterly report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

See Note 5 - Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Financial Statements (Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q) for information regarding legal proceedings in which we are involved.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following information updates, and should be read in conjunction with, the information discussed in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017. The risks discussed below and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K could materially affect our business, financial condition and future results. These are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be insignificant also may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results in the future.

Security vulnerabilities in our IT systems or products as well as unforeseen product errors could have a material adverse impact on our business results of operations, financial condition and reputation

In the ordinary course of business, we store sensitive data, including intellectual property, personal data, our proprietary business information and that of our customers, suppliers and business partners on our networks. In addition, we store sensitive data through cloud-based services that may be hosted by third parties and in data center infrastructure maintained by third parties. The secure maintenance of this information is critical to our operations and business strategy. Our information systems and those of our partners and customers are subject to the increasing threat of intrusions by a wide range of actors including computer programmers, hackers or sophisticated nation-state and nation-state supported actors or they may be compromised due to employee error or wrongful conduct, malfeasance, or other disruptions. Despite our security measures, and those of our third-party vendors, our information technology and infrastructure has experienced breaches or disruptions and may be vulnerable in the future to breach, attacks or disruptions. If any breach or attack compromises our networks, creates system disruptions or slowdowns or exploits security vulnerabilities of our products, the information stored on our networks or those of our customers could be accessed and modified, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen, and we may be subject to liability to our customers, suppliers, business partners and others, and suffer reputational and financial harm.

In addition, our products are used to manage critical applications and data for customers and third parties may attempt to exploit security vulnerabilities in our products as well as our internal IT systems. As we continue to focus on the development and marketing of security solutions, we become a bigger target for malicious computer hackers, including sophisticated nation-state and nation-state supported actors who wish to exploit security vulnerabilities in our products or IT systems.

We devote significant resources to addressing security vulnerabilities in our IT systems, product solutions and services through our efforts to engineer more secure solutions and services, enhance security and reliability features in our solutions and services, deploy security updates to address security vulnerabilities and seek to respond to known security incidents in sufficient time to minimize any potential adverse impact. Despite our efforts to harden our infrastructure and build secure solutions, from time to time, we experience attacks and other cyber-threats. These attacks can seek to exploit, among other things, known or unknown vulnerabilities in technology included in our IT infrastructure, solutions and services. For example, in January 2018, vulnerabilities in certain microprocessors were publicly announced under the names Spectre and Meltdown.

While we have undertaken efforts to mitigate these vulnerabilities, they could render our internal systems, products, and solutions and services susceptible to a cyberattack.

Our products may also contain undetected errors or defects when first introduced or as new versions are released. We have experienced these errors or defects in the past in connection with new products and product upgrades. As our products and customer IT infrastructures become increasingly complex, customers may experience unforeseen errors in implementing our products into their IT environments. We expect that these errors or defects will be found from time to time in new or enhanced products after commencement of commercial shipments. These problems may cause us to incur significant warranty and repair costs, divert the attention of our engineering personnel from our product development efforts and cause significant customer relations problems. We may also be subject to liability claims for damages related to product errors or defects. While we carry insurance policies covering this type of liability, these policies may not provide sufficient protection should a claim be asserted. A material product liability claim may harm our business and results of operations.

Our products must successfully operate with products from other vendors. As a result, when problems occur in a network, it may be difficult to identify the source of the problem. The occurrence of software or hardware problems, whether caused by our products or another vendor's products, may result in the delay or loss of market acceptance of our products. The occurrence of any of these problems may harm our business and results of operations.

Any errors, defects or vulnerabilities in our products or IT systems could result in:

- expenditures of significant financial and product development resources in efforts to analyze, correct, eliminate, or work-around errors and defects or to address and eliminate vulnerabilities;
- remediation costs, such as liability for stolen assets or information, repairs of system damage;
- increased cybersecurity protection costs which may include systems and technology changes, training, and engagement of third party experts and consultants;
- increased insurance premiums;
- loss of existing or potential customers or channel partners;
- · loss of proprietary information leading to lost competitive positioning and lost revenues;
- · negative publicity and damage to our reputation;
- · delayed or lost revenue;
- · delay or failure to attain market acceptance;
- an increase in warranty claims compared with our historical experience, or an increased cost of servicing warranty claims, either of which would adversely
 affect our gross margins; and
- litigation, regulatory inquiries, or investigations that may be costly and harm our reputation.

Our success depends on our key personnel and our ability to hire, retain and motivate qualified executives, sales and marketing, operations, product development and professional services personnel

Our success depends, in large part, on our ability to attract, engage, retain, and integrate qualified executives and other key employees throughout all areas of our business. In order to attract and retain executives and other key employees in a competitive marketplace, we must provide a competitive compensation package, including cash- and equity-based compensation. If we do not obtain the stockholder approval needed to continue granting equity compensation in a competitive manner, our ability to attract, retain, and motivate executives and key employees could be weakened. Failure to successfully hire executives and key employees or the loss of any executives and key employees could have a significant impact on our operations. François Locoh-Donou became the Company's CEO effective April 3, 2017. Transitioning to a new chief executive could be disruptive to our business and could adversely affect our business and results of operations. In addition, Frank Pelzer became the Company's Chief Financial Officer effective May 21, 2018 and Chad Whalen became the Executive Vice President of Worldwide Sales effective July 9, 2018. Further changes in our management team may be disruptive to our business, and any failure to successfully integrate key new hires or promoted employees could adversely affect our business and results of operations. The complexity of our application delivery networking products and their integration into existing networks and ongoing support, as well as the sophistication of our sales and marketing effort, requires us to retain highly trained developers, professional services, customer support and sales personnel in our industry is intense, especially in Silicon Valley and Seattle where we have substantial operations and a need for highly skilled personnel, because of the limited number of people available with the necessary technical skills and understanding of our products. Also, to the extent we hire personnel from competitors, we may

be subject to allegations that they have been improperly solicited, that they have divulged proprietary or other confidential information, that they have violated non-compete obligations to their prior employers, or that their former employers own their inventions or other work product. Our ability to hire and retain these personnel may be adversely affected by volatility or reductions in the price of our common stock or our ability to get approval from shareholders to offer additional common stock to our employees, since these employees are generally granted restricted stock units. The loss of services of any of our key personnel, the inability to retain and attract qualified personnel in the future or delays in hiring qualified personnel may harm our business and results of operations. In addition, we recently announced a restructuring to re-align our workforce to match strategic and financial objectives and optimize resources for long term growth, including a reduction in force program impacting a number of employees. This restructuring could lead to increased attrition amongst those employees who were not directly affected by the reduction in force program.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipated tax liabilities

Our provision for income taxes is subject to volatility and could be adversely affected by nondeductible stock-based compensation, changes in the research and development tax credit laws, earnings being lower than anticipated in jurisdictions where we have lower statutory rates and being higher than anticipated in jurisdictions where we have higher statutory rates, transfer pricing adjustments, not meeting the terms and conditions of tax holidays or incentives, changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, changes in actual results versus our estimates, or changes in tax laws, regulations, accounting principles or interpretations thereof, including changes to the tax laws applicable to corporate multinationals. The U.S., the European Union and its member states, and a number of other countries are actively pursuing changes in this regard. In addition, like other companies, we may be subject to examination of our income tax returns by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. While we regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes from such examinations and the adequacy of our provision for income taxes, there can be no assurance that such provision is sufficient and that a determination by a tax authority will not have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

The "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017 state that, "we do not provide for U.S. income taxes on certain foreign subsidiaries in which we intend to indefinitely reinvest such earnings outside the U.S. If our intent changes or if these funds are needed for U.S. operations, we would be required to accrue or pay U.S. taxes on some or all of these undistributed earnings and our effective tax rate would be adversely affected. Additionally, any changes in U.S. tax laws that would limit the ability to defer taxation on earnings outside of the U.S. could affect the tax treatment of our foreign earnings."

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted on December 22, 2017 imposes a tax on the deemed repatriation of undistributed foreign earnings as of December 31, 2017. Effective January 1, 2018, the new U.S. tax law provides a deduction for the foreign-source portion of dividends received from specified foreign corporations. We have recorded a tax expense for the deemed repatriation of foreign earnings as of December 31, 2017, and will record any estimated deferred tax liabilities associated with a future repatriation of earnings to the United States.

We recently implemented a restructuring program, which we cannot guarantee will achieve its intended result

In July 2018, we announced a restructuring program to match strategic and financial objectives and optimize resources for long term growth. We incur substantial costs to implement restructuring plans, and our restructuring activities may subject us to litigation risks and expenses. Our past restructuring plans do not provide any assurance that additional restructuring plans will not be required or implemented in the future. In addition, our restructuring plans may have other consequences, such as attrition beyond our planned reduction in workforce, a negative effect on employee morale and productivity or our ability to attract highly skilled employees. Our competitors may also use our restructuring plans to seek to gain a competitive advantage over us. As a result, our restructuring plans may affect our revenue and other operating results in the future.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

On October 25, 2017, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized an additional \$1.0 billion for its common stock share repurchase program. This new authorization is incremental to the existing \$3.4 billion program, initially approved in October 2010 and expanded in each fiscal year. Acquisitions for the share repurchase programs will be made from time to time in private transactions or open market purchases as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements. The programs can be terminated at any time. As of June 30, 2018, the Company repurchased and retired 3,210,478 shares at an average price of \$140.19 per share during fiscal year 2018 and the Company had \$723.6 million remaining authorized to purchase shares at June 30, 2018.

Shares repurchased and retired as of June 30, 2018 are as follows (in thousands, except shares and per share data):

	Total Number of Shares Purchased	Average Price Paid per Share	Total Number of Shares Purchased per the Publicly Announced Plan		Approximate Dollar Value of Shares that May Yet be Purchased Under the Plan	
October 1, 2017 — October 31, 2017	100,000	\$ 121.38	100,000	\$	1,161,514	
November 1, 2017 — November 30, 2017	1,142,610	\$ 120.68	1,142,610	\$	1,023,627	
December 1, 2017 — December 31, 2017	_	\$ _	_	\$	1,023,627	
January 1, 2018 — January 31, 2018	200,000	\$ 138.56	200,000	\$	995,914	
February 1, 2018 — February 28, 2018	865,326	\$ 141.34	865,326	\$	873,606	
March 1, 2018 — March 31, 2018	_	\$ _	_	\$	873,606	
April 1, 2018 — April 30, 2018	_	\$ _	_	\$	873,606	
May 1, 2018 — May 31, 2018	902,542	\$ 166.22	902,542	\$	723,588	
June 1, 2018 — June 30, 2018	_	\$ _	_	\$	723,588	
	29					

Item 6. Exhibits

<u>Exhibit</u> <u>Number</u>		Exhibit Description
31.1*	_	Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2*	_	Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1*	_	Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS*	_	XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH*	_	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL*	_	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF*	_	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB*	_	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE*	_	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed herewith.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on this 1st day of August, 2018.

F5 NETWORKS, INC.

By: /s/ FRANCIS J. PELZER

Francis J. Pelzer

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)

CERTIFICATIONS

- I, François Locoh-Donou, certify that:
- 1) I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of F5 Networks, Inc.;
- 2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4) The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal controls over financial reporting; and
- 5) The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting, which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 1, 2018

/s/ FRANÇOIS LOCOH-DONOU

François Locoh-Donou

Chief Executive Officer and President

CERTIFICATIONS

- I, Francis J. Pelzer, certify that:
- 1) I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of F5 Networks, Inc.;
- 2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4) The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal controls over financial reporting; and
- 5) The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting, which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 1, 2018

/s/ FRANCIS J. PELZER

Francis J. Pelzer Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of F5 Networks, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2018 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), we, François Locoh-Donou, President and Chief Executive Officer and Francis J. Pelzer, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer and principal accounting officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 1, 2018

/s/ FRANÇOIS LOCOH-DONOU

François Locoh-Donou

Chief Executive Officer and President

/s/ FRANCIS J. PELZER

Francis J. Pelzer

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to F5 Networks, Inc., and will be retained by F5 Networks, Inc., and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.